FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/22/2024 1:58 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No.

Case #: 1032811

Court of Appeals No. 58362-3-II

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ERIC HOOD

Appellant

v.

CENTRALIA COLLEGE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric Hood, Pro Se PO Box 1547 Langley, WA 98260 360.632.9134

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Facts Relevant To This Petition
	2. The Court of Appeals Opinion
	3. Reasons for Review
Е.	WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED9
	 Division II's Decision Conflicts With the Standard for PRA Requests Established by Washington State's Supreme Court
	2. Division II's Decision Conflicts With This Court's Decision Regarding RCW 42.56.550(4)20
	3. Division II's Decision Conflicts With Published Decisions In Courts Of Appeal
	a) Conflicts with previous Division II decisions 23
	b) Conflicts with RCW 42.56.550(3)24
	c) Division II applied its test with obvious bias 25
	4. Division II's Decision Conflicts With Washington State's Constitution
	RCW 42.56.030
	5. Review of Division II's fair notice test is of substantial public interest
F.	CONCLUSION

APPENDIX

Appendix 1	Division II's Opinion dated April 23, 2024
Appendix 2	Division II's Order denying Hood's Motion

	<i>for Reconsideration</i> dated June 26, 2024
Appendix 3	Report of Proceedings dated August 8, 2023
Appendix 4	Financial Statements Audit Report No. 1023438
Appendix 5	Reply dated January 19, 2024)
Appendix 6	Motion for Reconsideration, dated May 28, 2024.
Appendix 7	Complaint for Violations of the PRA, Hood v. College, served May 15, 2024.
Appendix 8	Eric Hood v City of Langley, No. 85075-0-I

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u> Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 31, 929 P.2d 389
(1997)11, 12
Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty., 187 Wash. App. 724, 740 (Wash.
Ct. App. 2015)23
Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. #405, 164
Wn.2d 199, 209, 189 P.3d 139 (2008) 12
Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn. App. 403, 411, 960 P.2d 447
(1998)
Brittig v. Mason Cnty. Fire Dist. #6, No. 57408-0-II, (Wash. Ct.
App. Aug. 8, 2023 (unpublished)23
Burt v. State Dep't of Corr., 168 Wn.2d 828, 832, 231 P.3d 191
(2010)
Cousins v. State, No. 101769-3, 37 (Wash. Apr. 11, 2024) 19
Daines v. Spokane County, 111 Wn. App. 342, 347, 44 P.3d 37
909 (2002)
Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 251-52, 274 P.3d 346
(2012)
Germeau v. Mason Cnty., 271 P.3d 932, 940-43 (Wash. Ct.
App. 2012)16, 23
Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn. 2d 439, 447 (Wash.
2004)

Hudson v. Hapner, 146 Wn. App. 280, 288 (Wash. Ct. App.

2008)
In re Marriage of Katare22
Johnson v. Asotin County, 3 Wn. App. 659, 662 (Wash. Ct.
App. 1970)24
Kilduff v. San Juan Cnty., 194 Wash. 2d 859, 874 (Wash. 2019)
King County v. Sheehan, 114 Wn. App. 325, 338, 57 P.3d 307
(2002)
Lindgren v. Lindgren, 58 Wn. App. 588, 594 (Wash. Ct. App.
1990)
Livingston v. Cedeno, 164 Wn. 2d 46, 53 (Wash. 2008) 21
Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn. 2d 29, 39 (Wash. 2000) 24
Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cnty. v. County of Spokane,
172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) 12
Newman v. King County, 133 Wn.2d 565, 570, 947 P.2d 217
(1997)
O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 145 Wn. App. 913, 922 (Wash. Ct.
App. 2008)25
Prog. Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash. (PAWS II), 125
Wn.2d 243, n251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) 11, 14, 21, 25
Rental Hous. Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165
Wn.2d 525, 536, 199 P.3d 393 (2009)11
Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 849, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) 12

1.

2013)
Truitt v. Department of State, 897 F.2d 540, 543 (D.D.C.1990)
Wade's Eastside Gun Shop., 185 Wash.2d 270, 372 P.3d 9719
West v. Port Olympia, 333 P.3d 488, 490 (Wash. Ct. App.
2014)
Wood v. Lowe, 102 Wash.App. 872, 879, 10 P.3d 494 (2000) 15
Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 Wn.2d 421, 429, 98 P.3d
463 (2004)11
Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 165 Wn. 2d 446 (Wash. 2009)
Zink v. City of Mesa, 140 Wash.App. 328, 337, 166 P.3d 738
(2007)
Statutes 5 U.S. Code § 552(c)
5 U.S. Code § 552(a)
RCW 42.17A.904
RCW 42.17A.001(11) 10
RCW 42.56.080
RCW 42.56.550(3) 10, 24, 25
RCW 42.56.550(4)

<u>Rules</u>

CR 12 (b)(6))	1
--------------	---	---

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Eric Hood ("Hood").

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Hood's 2023 complaint against Centralia College ("College") alleged the College violated the Public Records Act ("PRA") by failing to produce public records in response to requests that Hood made while litigating his 2020 PRA complaint against the College. Although the issue of whether the College received "fair notice" that those requests should have treated as PRA requests was never briefed, Division II upheld the trial court's CR 12 (b)(6) dismissal of Hood's 2023 complaint on the sole basis that Hood's litigation requests did not pass Division II's "fair notice test." Hood thus requests review of the Court of Appeals Division II's *Opinion* dated April 23, 2024 (Appendix 1) and *Order denying Hood's Motion for Reconsideration* dated June 26, 2024 (Appendix 2).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Three issues arise from Division II's holding that Hood's litigation requests made during the course of Hood's previous litigation did not provide the College with "fair notice" that Hood wanted records pursuant to the PRA:

1. whether Division II's complicated, exclusionary, unlegislated, unbriefed, and untested "fair notice test," should supplant this Courts' simpler standard for a PRA request, this State's notice pleading standard, and the plain language and intent of the Act;

2. whether an agency may ignore repeated requests for records solely because those requests were made during the course of litigation; and

3. whether Hoods' 2023 complaint should have been dismissed.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Facts Relevant To This Petition

In 2020, Hood sued Centralia College for its response to his 2019 PRA request for "all records [College] got from the auditor and all records of any response to the audit or to the audit report" related to a State audit of the College. Appendix 1, p. 2.

In his 2020 complaint, Hood alleged that his 2019 PRA request "encompassed records other than the documents [the College produced]." CP 182. Hood subsequently made a discovery request for production for "all records related to the State Auditor's Office audit of the College . . . that have not been previously produced, whether or not the College considers them responsive to the [records request that based Hood's 2020 lawsuit]." Appendix 1, p. 3.

The College understood that the purpose of Hood's request for production was to determine whether additional documents should have been produced in response to Hood's 2019 PRA request. CP 51. The College nonetheless pushed back,

objecting that Hood's discovery request "sought information that was outside the scope of discovery." Appendix 1, p. 3. Hood in turn argued that the College's "failure to search its Board files is unreasonable" and that it withheld records showing the "Board's response to the audit or audit report" including "Minutes that are an obvious response to the audit." CP 98-99. *And see* Appendix 1, p. 4. The trial court agreed with the College's objection, and later dismissed Hood's case, thus the College was not required to search its Board's files for audit-related records or to produce the minutes.

During his appeal of the trial court's dismissal of his 2020 lawsuit, Hood made additional requests for the records he believed the College withheld. For example, Hood "notified the College that Hood considered the College's response to have been overly narrow" and again demanded that the College produce its "Board's minutes" Appendix 1, p. 5. College again refused to produce search its Board's files or produce its Board's minutes. After Division II affirmed the 2020 trial court's decision, Hood filed a Petition for Review, arguing that the College was obliged to produce the records that Hood requested during his 2020 litigation, which would have included the Board minutes, even though courts found they were not responsive to his 2019 PRA request. *Id.*, p. 5-6.

The same day that the Supreme Court terminated Hood's Petition for Review in that case, March 8, 2023, Hood filed a new complaint alleging that the College violated the PRA by ignoring the requests for records that Hood made during the litigation of his 2020 lawsuit, including the Board's minutes ("litigation requests"). *Id.*, p. 6-7. (Although Hood's 2020 complaint and litigation are relevant to understanding the basis of this petition, Division II's decision regarding Hood's 2023 complaint is solely at issue here.)

The College did not answer Hood's 2023 complaint. Instead, it moved to dismiss it, under CR 12(b)(6), on the grounds that Hood's claims were precluded and time-barred. *Id.*, p. 7. The 2023 trial court granted, without comment, the College's motion. CP 222. The 2023 trial court also agreed that the College was not required to search its Board's files or produce its minutes in response to Hood's discovery request. Appendix 3, p. 16 ("all that is required, [is] that the college completed its discovery.") Despite Hood's multiple requests the College never searched its Board's files or produced its Board minutes discussing the audit, even though the audit report was addressed to the Board. Appendix 4, p. 2, 4, 7. ¹

2. The Court of Appeals Opinion

Division II "agree[d]" that Hood's 2023 complaint,

sufficiently raises the issue argued in his opening brief that his "litigation requests" made in the course of the 2020 litigation were also public records requests separate from the 2019 public records request [and thus] put the College on notice that Hood was, at least in part, claiming PRA penalties and attorney fees for the failure to adequately respond to his "litigation requests" made in the course of his 2020 litigation.

¹ A copy of the audit report is shown at:

https://portal.sao.wa.gov/ReportSearch/Home/ViewReportFile?arn=10234 38&isFinding=false&sp=false

Appendix 1, p. 8-9.

In other words, Division II found that Hood's 2023 complaint was *not* precluded or time-barred and sufficiently stated a claim for relief. Although the College's arguments to the contrary were unmerited,² Division II applied its "fair notice test," which was not briefed by the parties, to find that Hood's "litigation requests" were not public records requests. *Id.*, p. 10-19. On that sole basis, Division II confirmed the trial court's dismissal. *Id*.

Because the issue of whether Hood's litigation requests provided fair notice was never briefed in the trial court, Hood partially briefed it in his motion for reconsideration, incorporated here by reference. Appendix 6.

² Division II declined to sanction the College for intransigently arguing that Hood's claims were precluded. Appendix 5, p. 11-16.

3. Reasons for Review

Division II justified the trial court's dismissal of Hood's 2023 complaint because "the core issues here are legal," i.e., Division II found that unambiguous requests for certainly identified records, if made during the course of litigation of a PRA complaint, fail the "fair notice test" devised by Division II and thus cannot "legal[ly]" be subject to the PRA. Appendix 1, p. 10-11.

As argued below and here, Division II's ruling allows an unlegislated, unbriefed, untested, complicated, exclusionary, "fair notice test" that invites contentious litigation to supplant the simple and logical standard for PRA requests established by this Court, thwarts this State's notice pleading standard, and contradicts the plain language and intent of the PRA. Division II's rulings effectively hold that *no* authority requires the College to search its Board's files or produce its minutes, and consequently *it has not done so*. Appendix 7.³ Like Division II's "bright line rule," the "fair notice test" and its application cry out for review by this Supreme Court. RAP 13.4.

E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Division II's Decision Conflicts With the

Standard for PRA Requests Established by

Washington State's Supreme Court

This Court's standard for a legal PRA request is contained

in a single sentence:

[A] party seeking documents must, at a minimum, provide notice that the request is made pursuant to the [PRA] and identify the documents with reasonable clarity to allow the agency to locate them.

Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn. 2d 439, 447 (Wash. 2004)

The key phrase here is "pursuant to." ⁴ Thus, to determine

whether a request is made "pursuant to the PRA" requires an

³ Emboldened by Division II's decision, the College continues to ignore Hood's PRA requests for its Board records, which resulted in Hood's 2024 complaint served to the AGO on May 14, 2024. Appendix 7.

⁴ "Pursuant to" is defined as "[i]n compliance with," "in

accordance with," "as authorized by," and "under." Black's Law

understanding of the singular authority, purpose and breadth and of the PRA, which specifies no less than *three* times that it be liberally construed in favor of disclosure. *King County v. Sheehan*, 114 Wn. App. 325, 338, 57 P.3d 307 (2002) (referring to the "thrice-repeated" mandate of interpreting the Act in favor of disclosure and quoting RCW 42.17A.001(11), RCW 42.56.030, RCW 42.17A.904.) *And see* RCW 42.56.080 (2) ('Public records *shall* be available …and agencies *shall*, upon request for identifiable public records, make them promptly available to any person.") (Emphasis added) *And see* RCW 46.56.550(3) "[F]ree and open examination of public records is in the public interest....")

Because the PRA's provisions reflect its purpose, courts "must look at the Act in its entirety in order to enforce the law's overall purpose." *Rental Hous. Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of*

Dictionary 1272 (8th ed.2004). And see *A Dictionary of Modern Legal Usage* 721 (2d. ed. 1995), which adds "in carrying out."

Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 536, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (citation omitted).

Said "purpose" is:

nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions.

Prog. Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash. (PAWS II), 125
Wn.2d 243, n251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (citations and footnotes omitted); see also Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 251-52, 274 P.3d 346 (2012) (quoting PAWS II); Burt v. State Dep't of Corr., 168 Wn.2d 828, 832, 231 P.3d 191 (2010) (quoting PAWS II); Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 Wn.2d 421, 429, 98
P.3d 463 (2004) ("The [PRA] enables citizens to retain their sovereignty over their government and to demand full access to information relating to their government's activities."); Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1997)) ("The purpose of the PRA is to 'ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve

them' by providing full access to information concerning the conduct of government."); *Daines v. Spokane County*, 111 Wn. App. 342, 347, 44 P.3d 37 909 (2002) ("The purpose of the [PRA] is to keep public officials and institutions accountable to the people."), *overruling on other grounds recognized by Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cnty. v. County of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011).

This Court recognizes that the purpose of the PRA is not only to protect but *increase* access to records. "The PRA's purpose is to increase access to government records." *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 849, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). *Amren*, 131 Wn.2d at 31 (PRA is "designed to provide open access to governmental activities").

Access to public records must be *full* access. *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist.* #405, 164 Wn.2d 199, 209, 189 P.3d 139 (2008) (citation omitted) (policy of PRA "is to ensure 'full access to information concerning the conduct of government on every level'"); *Newman v. King County*, 133 Wn.2d 565, 570, 947 P.2d 217 (1997) ("The [PRA] reflects the belief that the public should have full access to information concerning the working of the government.")

In short, a request that is made "pursuant to the PRA" is a request that should increase a citizen's full access to the workings of a government agency.

Hangartner's clear and simple language that a request sufficiently "provides notice" if it is made "pursuant to" the PRA comports with the authoritative language and purpose of the PRA. The *Hangartner* standard also mirrors the simple language of FOIA, 5 U.S. Code § 552(a), on which the PRA is modeled, and federal rulings that interpret FOIA, notably:

When, however, an agency becomes reasonably clear as to the materials desired, FOIA's text and legislative history make plain the agency's obligation to bring them forth.

Truitt v. Department of State, 897 F.2d 540, 543 (D.D.C.1990).

By contrast with the unambiguous single sentences of *Hangartner and Truitt*, Division II devotes approximately *nine*

pages to explain its complicated and multi-factored "fair notice test" of what constitutes a "legal" PRA request. Appendix 1, p. 11-19.

Such complexity invites arbitrariness and contradiction. For example, the PRA considers a request for all records "regarding a particular keyword or name" to be a request for "identifiable" records. RCW 42.56.080(1). "An 'identifiable record' is one that is existing at the time of the request and which agency staff can reasonably locate." WAC 44-14-04002(2). *And see Beal v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn. App. 865, 873, 209 P.3d 872 (2009). A request for documentation related to a particular topic is therefore a request for identifiable records. RCW 42.56.080(1).

The Washington State Supreme Court accordingly found that a request for "documents constituting, associated with, and related to [a grant proposal]" to be valid. *Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. University of Washington*, 125 Wn. 2d 243, 268 n.12 (Wash. 1994). Similarly, it found that "all material relating to [a particular] study and any other such studies [was] clear and unambiguous." Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 165

Wn. 2d 446 (Wash. 2009) at 439, 465- 465.

Division III, however, had a different view.

[The request was for] "documentation" related to Ms. Wood's employment <u>or</u> the prosecutor's office generally.... [The] request for "documentation" lacks any meaningful description helpful for the person charged with finding the record. *See Bonamy*, <u>92 Wn. App. At</u> <u>411</u> (reasoning request "for general policy guidelines" too broad).

Wood v. Lowe, 102 Wash.App. 872, 879, 10 P.3d 494 (2000), citing *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 411, 960 P.2d 447 (1998). (emphasis added).

To make its finding, the *Wood* court conflated two separate topics, "Wood's employment" and "prosecutor's office generally." *Bonamy*, and hence *Wood*, may have applied to the latter topic, but *not* the former. That is, a request for "all documents related to the prosecutor's office generally" *is not* request for identifiable records, but a request for all "documents related to Wood's employment" *is*. A request for records "related to" a particular topic should not be both invalid and valid, yet that contradiction directly results from Division II's arbitrary application of its "fair notice test." This test, first articulated in *Germeau v. Mason Cnty.*, 271 P.3d 932, 940-43 (Wash. Ct. App. 2012), heavily relies on the contradictory holding in *Wood* to determine whether a request's "language" provides fair notice. *Germeau*, 102 Wash. App. At 941-942, 10 P.3d, citing *Wood*, 102 Wash.App. at 879, 10 P.3d 494.

Division II applied similar contradictory reasoning to find that "the language of Hood's "litigation requests" does not support fair notice." Appendix1, p. 16. Recall, however, that Hood requested

all records related to the State Auditor's Office audit of the College . . . that have not been previously produced, whether or not the College considers them responsive to the [request that based Hood's 2020 lawsuit].

Id., p. 3. Hood later precisely and repeatedly specified some of those undisclosed records, including the College Board minutes. *Id.*, p. 4-5. Hood challenges this Court to devise "language" that more clearly notifies the College that Hood wants all undisclosed records related to the audit, including the board minutes.

The complexity or arbitrariness of Division II's fair notice test also confuses courts of appeal. For example, Division II insisted that "Hood's "litigation requests" did not give the College fair notice he was seeking records under the PRA." Appendix 1, p. 19. Contrarily, *Division 1* interpreted *O'Dea* to mean the opposite:

> [A] public agency is placed on "fair notice" of a Public Records Act request when such request is made in the context of litigation.

Appendix 8, p. 10, fn. (unpublished decision).

According to Division II, "Hood did not use language suggesting he was making a new public records request." Appendix 1, p. 16. But according to *Hangartner* and the purpose of the PRA, which is to provide a citizen full access to an agency's records, Hood certainly made a new PRA request.

Division II's decision here shows that its "fair notice test" is contrary to the purpose of the PRA. The question that should be asked, is: "Did Hood's litigation requests provide notice to the College that he wanted additional records that would increase his access to the College's decision making?" or in other words, were Hood's litigation requests for identifiable records made "pursuant to" the PRA? Yes. There is no question that Hood wanted records in addition to what the College had previously provided, including the records of its decision-makers, the College's Board.

Division II's complicated, confusing and arbitrarily applied "fair notice test" imposes unlegislated requirements that are contrary to the text and intention of *Hangartner, Truitt*, and the PRA. By contrast with the many constraints imposed by Division II's fair notice test, this Court consistently favors the purpose and legislative intent of the PRA. For example, agencies may not impose an "administrative exhaustion requirement" to prevent access to records and thus "frustrate [the PRA's] purpose." *Kilduff v. San Juan Cnty.*, 194 Wash. 2d 859, 874 (Wash. 2019) at 874 and 878. Similarly, agencies cannot use an estimated date of disclosure as an excuse to withhold available records, because that too would frustrate the PRA's purpose. *Wade's Eastside Gun Shop.*, 185 Wash.2d 270, 372 P.3d 97.

This Court recently found that another of Division II's devices, its "bright line" rule, "interpret[ed]the PRA in a way that would tend to frustrate [the PRA's] purpose." *Cousins v. State*, No. 101769-3, 37 (Wash. Apr. 11, 2024). *And see* Appendix 6, *Motion for Reconsideration*, p. 27-31.

By contrast with this Court's reluctance to hinder access to public records, Division II's restrictive and exclusionary "fair notice test," like its "bright line" rule, represents an unlegislated hurdle for requesters that functions as an "administrative exhaustion requirement" (*see Kilduff, supra*). Such an exhaustion requirement should not be permitted simply because it is

19

administered by Division II. Nor should agencies be able to use Division's II's "fair notice test" as an unlegislated exemption.

Division II's "fair notice test" and its application are clearly contrary to multiple Supreme Court's opinions that disfavor agency (including court) attempts to create barriers to public records. Granting this Petition will provide this Court with the urgent opportunity to review the basis, application and unfairness of Division II's "fair notice test."

2. Division II's Decision Conflicts With This

Court's Decision Regarding RCW 42.56.550(4)

Division II found that Hood

sufficiently ... put the College on notice that Hood was, at least in part, claiming PRA penalties and attorney fees for the failure to adequately respond to his "litigation requests" made in the course of his 2020 litigation.

Appendix 1, p. 8-9.

Hood thus prevailed on the *sole* issue under appeal. Hood must be compensated "to the extent that he prevailed here." *Sargent v. Seattle Police Dep't*, 314 P.3d 1093, 1105 (Wash. 2013). Such compensation must include "all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." *Id.*, quoting RCW 42.56.550(4).

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