FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/3/2024 3:03 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1032811

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ERIC HOOD, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

CENTRALIA COLLEGE, a public agency,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT CENTRALIA COLLEGE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MATTHEW BARBER #53047 Assistant Attorney General OID No. 91035 P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-0812 Matthew.Barber@atg.wa.gov

Attorney for Centralia College

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

IV. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Fair Notice Test Used by the Court of Appeals is Consistent with Long-standing Precedent

This Court held two decades ago that "a party seeking documents must, at a minimum, provide notice that the request

12

is made pursuant to the [PRA]² and identify the documents with reasonable clarity to allow the agency to locate them." *Hangartner v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 439, 447, 90 P.3d 26 (2004). The "fair notice" test developed by Division II of the Court of Appeals utilizes six factors advanced by this Court in *Hangartner*, and Divisions I and III of the Court of Appeals in *Wood v. Lowe*, 102 Wn. App. 872, 10 P.3d 494 (2000); *Parmelee v. Clarke*, 148 Wn. App. 748, 201 P.3d 1022 (2008); and *Beal v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn. App. 865, 209 P.3d 872 (2009).

The first group of factors "concern[] the characteristics of the request itself: (1) the request's language. . .; (2) its format . . .; and (3) the recipient of the request." *Germeau v. Mason Cnty.*, 166 Wn. App. 789, 805, 271 P.3d 932 (2012) (citations omitted). The second group of factors

 $^{^2}$ The decision referred to the Public Disclosure Act, which the Legislature amended and recodified as the PRA. Laws of 2005, ch. 274, § 1.

concern[] the characteristics of the required records themselves: (1) whether the request was for specific records, as opposed to information *about* or *contained in* the records . . .; (2) whether the requested records were actual public records . . .; and (3) whether it was reasonable for the agency to believe that the requester was requesting the documents under an independent, non-PRA authority.

Id. at 807 (citations omitted) (italics in original).

The "fair notice" test applied by Division II in this case is an application of this Court's decision in *Hangartner*, and incorporates factors initially identified by Divisions I and III two decades ago. Therefore, the decision is not, as Hood asserts, contrary to precedent. Pet. for Review at 18 and 20; *see also* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

Furthermore, like Division II, Divisions I and III also assess whether a request for records provides fair notice that it has been made pursuant to the PRA, rather than some other authority. This is because disclosure under the PRA "is not necessary until and unless there has been a specific request for records." *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 409,

14

960 2.d 447 (1998). Therefore, a requestor must place an agency on notice that a request under the PRA has been made, and the agency's obligations under the PRA have been triggered. "The fair notice requirement is one of the few burdens placed on requestors." *Thomas v. Pierce Cnty. Prosecuting Att'y's Off.*, No. 73360-5-I, 2015 WL 6126474, at *3 n. 6 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 19, 2015) (unpublished). If the requestor does not provide such notice, then "it is unreasonable to hold the agency responsible for its lack of response" *Id*.

In *Beal*, Division I of the Court of Appeals held the City of Seattle had not received fair notice plaintiffs were requesting records under the PRA. Plaintiffs sought compilations of information about records or the creation of new documents explaining "why the [plaintiffs' mitigation plan] suggestions were not feasible." *Beal*, 150 Wn. App. at 875. Division I held the plaintiffs had not provided fair notice they were requesting records under the PRA because they could not compel the city to create new records, and "[a] request for information about public records or for the information contained in a public record is not a PRA request." *Id.* at 876 (citing *Wood*, 102 Wn. App. 872 at 879; *Smith v. Okanogan Cnty.*, 100 Wn. App. 7, 15, 994 P.2d 857 (2000); and *Bonamy*, 92 Wn. App. at 409-10); *see also, Faulkner v. Dep't of Corr.*, 183 Wn. App. 93, 101, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014) ("The DOC did not have a duty to produce a record that was not in existence."). Additionally, Division I held "the City could have responded to [plaintiffs'] demand . . . without producing any public records." *Id.* at 875-76.

Hood argues that a request for public records can be made during the course of litigation, Pet. for Review at 17, and he is correct. But that does not support his assertation that discovery requests and legal filings made during litigation automatically become PRA requests.

Hood's argument is based on an unreasonably broad reading of the Court of Appeals' decision in *O'Dea v*. *City of Tacoma*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 67, 493 P.3d 1245 (2021). The plaintiff in *O'Dea* clearly labeled their requests as "PUBLIC

16

RECORDS REQUEST[S]," *Id.* at 72, and referred to them in the attached complaint as requests for public records. *Id.* at 82. Unlike the requestor in *O'Dea*, Hood referred to the civil rules as the authority for his six "litigation requests" and presented them as discovery requests and in legal filings.

In this case, the Court of Appeals expressly reconciled its decision with the decision in *O'Dea*. The *O'Dea* court held that "all three factors related to the characteristics of the request favor O'Dea, as did the characteristics of the records. *Id.* at 81. In *Hood II*, the Court of Appeals provided a thorough analysis of how the six "fair notice" factors applied to Hood's "litigation requests," explained why the characteristics of his requests and the records he sought did not support a finding that his requests "[gave] the College fair notice he was seeking records under the PRA," and explained why Hood's case "is more like *Germeau* than *O'Dea." Hood II*, 2024 WL 1732719, at *10 and *8.

O'Dea involved a straight-forward application of the "fair notice" factors to the specific facts of that case. *O'Dea* did not

announce the brightline rule Hood believes it did: that any requests for records made during litigation *automatically* become PRA requests. The O'Dea court did not articulate that as the rule, and no court has endorsed Hood's interpretation of O'Dea. The Court of Appeals has twice rejected such an expansive interpretation within the past two years: in Kilduff v. San Juan Cnty., No. 82711-1-I, 2022 WL 1763722, at *11 (Wash. Ct. App. May 31, 2022) (unpublished) ("We reject Kilduff's reading of O'Dea that would treat every PRA complaint as a new records request when the request had already been submitted."), and Brittig v. Mason Cnty. Fire Dist. No. 6, No. 57408-0-II, 2023 WL 5094063, at *9 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 8, 2023) (unpublished) (Plaintiff's email notifying Defendant that Plaintiff "intended to add a cause of action to his complaint ... " was not a PRA request, "but rather a follow-up to a request that, from the [Defendant's] perspective, it had already fulfilled.").

Although Hood claims the Court of Appeals' decision in Hood II "conflicts with multiple PRA cases upholding RCW 42.56.550(3) in every division[,]" Pet. for Review at 25, he does not explain how it conflicts, and the cases he cites do not support his argument. Instead, they address questions not at issue in Hood II, such as whether certain records were among the records sought under a PRA request, see, e.g., Zink v. City of Mesa, 140 Wn. App. 328, 344, 166 P.3d 738 (2007) (initial request for records notified City that a memo concerning neighbors' complaints fell within category of documents requested), and O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 145 Wn. App. 913, 922-24, 187 P.3d 822 (2008) (email and associated metadata were public records subject to PRA); whether a PRA request was for an "identifiable public record[,]" *Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty.*, 187 Wn. App. 724, 740 (2015), rev'd in part on other grounds, 186 Wn.2d 452, 378 P.3d 176 (2016); or whether certain documents sought by a requester were protected from disclosure. Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y. v. Univ. of Washington,

125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). The Court of Appeals'

decision in *Hood II* does not conflict with these prior decisions.

B. The PRA is a Statute and Does not Implement a Constitutional Provision. This Case Does not Involve a Substantial Constitutional Question.

Without providing supporting authority or legal analysis, Hood alleges that the underlying decision conflicts with Article I, Section 1 of the Washington Constitution, which says: "All political power is inherent in the people, and governments derive their just powers from the consent of the governed, and are established to protect and maintain individual rights."

Declining to require that agencies must automatically respond to clearly labeled discovery requests under both the civil discovery rules and the PRA does not violate this provision. The PRA is a statute; it is not part of the Washington Constitution and does not implement any constitutional provision. Therefore, the PRA does not represent a constitutional command to produce records. To the contrary, this Court has "recognized that the PRA must give way to constitutional mandates." Freedom Found. v.

Gregoire, 178 Wn.2d 686, 695, 310 P.3d 1252 (2013).

The "fair notice" test, and the requirement that requestors provide agencies fair notice they are requesting records under the PRA, does not undermine any constitutional interest and does not present a substantial constitutional question.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision was Based on Prior Published Decisions and did not Announce any Changes in the Application of the Fair Notice Test, and this Case Does not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Hood claims the "fair notice" test is of substantial public interest, but does not explain why, aside from claiming it is "a judicially administered exhaustion requirement" and "an unlegislated exemption" that "conflicts with law and precedent[.]" Pet. for Review at 28.

However, the "fair notice" test is neither an exhaustion requirement nor an exemption, and it does not conflict with precedent. The test does not establish any conditions or steps which must be exhausted before a requestor can make a PRA request. Instead, it recognizes that an agency's obligations under the PRA are only triggered if the requestor has made a request for identifiable public records and "state[d] the request with sufficient clarity to give the agency fair notice that it had received a request for a public record." *Wood*, 102 Wn. App. at 878.

The "fair notice" test does not exempt any records from disclosure. It is, however, based on long-standing precedent, including this Court's decision in *Hangartner*. The College produced records responsive to Hood's six "litigation requests" during civil discovery in his 2020 PRA lawsuit; the College did not refuse to produce records during civil discovery in that matter by claiming an exemption under the PRA.

D. The Court of Appeals Affirmed the Dismissal of this Case; Hood did not Prevail, and he was not Entitled to Costs.

Hood incorrectly claims he "prevailed on the *sole* issue under appeal[,]" and therefore must be compensated, including costs and reasonable attorney fees. Pet. for Review at 20-21 (italics in original).

First, Hood misstates the issues on appeal. Whether he sufficiently raised an issue in his briefing was not the sole issue on appeal. While the Court of Appeals did find that "Hood's 2023 complaint, read in context, sufficiently raises the issue argued in his opening brief-that his 'litigation requests' made in the course of the 2020 litigation were also public records requests separate from [his] 2019 public records request[,]" Hood II, 2024 WL 1732719, at *5, it ultimately decided that "Hood's 'litigation requests' did not give the College fair notice he was seeking records under the PRA, and thus, these requests were not public records requests." Id. at *10. Second, the Court of Appeals explicitly determined that Hood was not entitled to costs or attorney fees because he had "not prevail[ed] in his action against the College and because unrepresented parties are not entitled to attorney fees[.]" Id.

A court's refusal to award costs and attorney fees to a pro se party who did not prevail is not, as Hood asserts, contrary to this Court's decision *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 283 P.3d 546 (2012). This Court declined to award attorney fees in *Katare* because it determined that one party had not shown that the other party's "conduct crossed the line to intransigence." *Id.* at 43. Hood has not established that the College was intransigent in this matter. While Hood claims the College's arguments that his 2023 PRA lawsuit was barred by "preclusion and statute of limitations" were "frivolous," the superior court "base[d] its decision on res judicata, collateral estoppel, and the PRA's statute of limitations." *Hood II*, 2024 WL 1732719, at *4. And the Court of Appeals ultimately affirmed the trial court's decision dismissing Hood's complaint. Hood was decidedly *not* the prevailing party.

V. CONCLUSION

Review by this Court of the Court of Appeals' order affirming the superior court's order dismissing Hood's 2023 PRA lawsuit is not warranted.

Hood's arguments are without merit, misstate applicable case law, and misrepresent the order on appeal. He urges this Court to adopt a new public records standard under which interrogatories and requests for production, along with other legal filings made pursuant to applicable court rules, would automatically become PRA requests. Hood's proposed rule would do nothing to advance government transparency. Instead, it would lead to absurd and chaotic results, turning every civil discovery request and dispute, as well as legal filing, into a new PRA request and create "an endless breeding ground for new public records requests." *Hood II*, 2024 WL 1732719, at *9.

This document contains 4,125 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.